1999

Louise A. Symes v. Merlin David Symes : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Did the Court abuse its discretion by finding Merlin's family cabin to be entirely marital property? The appellant court will not disturb the trial court decision concerning property divisions unless it is clearly unjust or a clear abuse of discretion. Walters v. Walters, 812 P.2d 64, 66 (Utah App. 1991) *cert. denied* 836 P.2d 1383 (Utah 1993).

II. Did the Court abuse its discretion by failing to apportion to Merlin his premarital interest in the cabin and award it to Merlin as separate property? The appellant court will not disturb the trial court decision concerning property divisions unless it is clearly unjust or a clear abuse of discretion. Walters v. Walters, 812 P.2d 64, 66 (Utah App. 1991) *cert. denied* 836 P.2d 1383 (Utah 1993).

III. Did the Court abuse its discretion by failing to charge the marital estate and divide equally the costs of the appraisals used by the Court in determining property values? The standard of review of the apportionment of costs is whether the trial court abused its discretion. Lloyd's Unlimited v. Nature's Way Marketing, Ltd., 753 P.2d 507, 512 (Utah App. 1988).

IV. Did the Court abuse its discretion in denying post trial motions to take additional evidence on the monies received from the sale of the St. George condominium? The denial of post trial motions is reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. Katz v. Peirce, 732 P.2d 92, 93 (Utah 1986).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

1. Louise filed her complaint for divorce on December 22, 1997. R. 1.
2. Louise immediately sought a Temporary Restraining Order and Order to Show Cause. R. 10.
3. Both parties engaged in discovery in preparation for trial.
4. A bench trial was held on October 8 and 9, 1998. R. 101.
5. The Court issued a Memorandum Decision on October 20, 1998. R. 101-108.
6. Various post trial motions were filed including a Motion to Assess Costs (R. 109) and a Motion to Reconsider Court's Ruling and/or Reopen Trial to Take Additional Testimony and Evidence.
7. On or about February 13, 1999, the Court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and a Decree of Divorce. R. 132-149.

B. FACTUAL HISTORY

1. The parties were married on October 21, 1969. TT. Vol. I, p. 1.

2. The parties separated on November 6, 1997. R.1
3. The parties had no children together but each had children from a prior marriage. R. 1-8.
4. Prior to the marriage, Merlin was the record title owner of property at Bear Lake on which he and his sons had constructed a cabin. TT. Vol. I, p. 43 L. 5-8.
5. The cabin remained in Merlin's name throughout the course of this marriage and was regarded by he and his children by a prior marriage as a family owned cabin. TT. Vol. I, p. 198, L. 20-23.
6. During the marriage, Merlin's adult sons began constructing an addition to the cabin while Merlin was working in California. TT. Vol. II, p. 362 L. 20-21.
7. Merlin helped work on the cabin on weekends when he was in town but his sons did most of the work. TT. Vol II, P. 362.
8. The addition increased the size of the cabin by one bedroom for each of his two sons, one bedroom for Merlin and a garage. TT. Vol. I, p. 43, L. 18-19.
9. The materials for the addition were paid for mostly by the two sons with Merlin contributing approximately \$5,000.00 in cash.
10. Many of the materials used were scavenged and therefore the actual costs of the material were minimal. *Id.*
11. The value of the cabin at the time of the divorce was \$119,000.00. \$50,000.00 for the land, \$40,000.00 for the original A-Frame Cabin, and \$29,000.00 for

the addition. TT. Vol. I, p. 120, L. 1, TT. Vol. I, p.124, L.9-11 and TT. Vol. I p. 125 L. 19-21.

12. The appraised value of the cabin was not challenged at the trial court and no other evidence of the present value of the cabin or improvements was introduced.

See Record generally.

13. The parties also owned a residence in Layton, Utah. TT. Vol. I, p. 132.

14. The Layton home was purchased during the marriage. Id.

15. The mortgage payments on the Layton home were made from marital resources until approximately one year prior to the parties separation and divorce when Merlin received a worker's compensation settlement which was used to pay off the mortgage balance of \$30,661.08. R. 135-138.

16. At trial the Court found the entire value of the addition to be marital and “negative extrapolated” *sua sponte* without evidence the value of the cabin at the time of the marriage.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court abused its discretion by finding the value supplied by the two sons in improving the cabin to be marital and by “negative extrapolating” a premarital value without supporting evidence. The trial court should have awarded the entire cabin property to Merlin as premarital property or at least segregated his contribution to the value of the improvements and divided that as part of the marital estate. The trial court

abused its discretion by failing to charge the marital estate with the costs of the appraisals used by the Court in determining property values. The Court abused its discretion in denying post trial motions to take additional evidence on the disposition of monies received from the sale of the St. George condominium.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY FINDING THE APPRECIATION IN THE VALUE OF THE BEAR LAKE CABIN TO BE PART OF THE MARITAL ESTATE.

The trial court abused its discretion in finding the appreciation in Merlin's premarital family cabin to be marital property. The standard of review is that on appeal the decision of the lower court will not be disturbed concerning property divisions unless it is clearly unjust or a clear abuse of discretion. Walters v. Walters, 812 P.2d 64, 66 (Utah App. 1991) *cert. denied* 836 P.2d 1383 (Utah 1993). Because the portion of the trial court's decision with respect to the cabin is an abuse of discretion, this Court must reverse that portion of the decision.

The trial Court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on February 13, 1999. R. 132-144. Finding of Fact No. 11, states the following:

11. One of the central issues in this case is whether certain property is marital or non-marital and the valuation of such property. During the marriage, the parties have maintained individual bank accounts. Some of the property has been titled in both names and some in respondent's name only or in conjunction with third parties. The court concludes that all income of each party whether in a joint account or in separate accounts is marital property and should be accounted for as such. Moreover, the same is true for property titled in one or both parties' names

and in property held in conjunction with third parties as the interests of the parties may occur. On the other hand, property brought into the marriage unless the exceptions cited in *MORTENSEN v. MORTENSEN*, 760 P.2d 304, 308 (Utah 1988) apply. Following are the Court's findings as to valuation and status of the marital estate:

A. Bear Lake Cabin with adjacent Lot: The respondent owned an A-Frame cabin and 50 foot water front adjacent lot on the west shore of Bear Lake at the time of the parties marriage. The lot was sold for \$5,000.00 in 1971 to J. Gordon and Virjean Reynolds when the parties moved to Florida for respondent's work. It was allegedly repurchased by respondent's four children in 1974 for \$20,000.00 although a deed was not signed by the Reynolds until April 18, 1980 and not recorded until September 18, 1997. The lot is considered to have a current value of \$50,000.00. Improvements have been made to the lot including fill dirt, sprinkler system, sod and retaining wall. Most of the labor and costs were borne by respondent's children and some by respondent. Petitioner made no contribution to the adjacent lot. Therefore, the Court finds that the lot is non-marital property.

On the other hand, the cabin, which also has a 50 foot water front frontage, has been in the name of the respondent since the marriage. Moreover, the cabin has been significantly enlarged and remodeled. It has been insured under both parties's name. Taxes and most of the cost associated with the improvements have been paid from marital funds. The remodel has been done by respondent with the aid of his two sons as quid pro quo for respondent's assistance with their improvements of the adjacent lot. Over the years, petitioner has taken care of the domestic chores associated with the cabin and its lot while respondent has handled the physical improvements and financial matters associated with the cabin. The entire family has used both the cabin and adjacent lot for recreational purposes. Household furnishings in the cabin have been contributed to by both petitioner and respondent from premarital property. The court therefore concludes that petitioner has contributed to the enhancement, maintenance, and protection of the cabin and its associated lot throughout the 28 years of the marriage and thus it is marital property.

The court further concludes that the current value of the cabin is \$119,000.00. However, the amount should be decreased by its value at the time of the marriage. Petitioner suggests that its original value should be based on the valuation by the county for property tax purposes which is \$1,900.00. The court rejects this notion. Respondent argues that the value at the time of the parties marriage is irrelevant. The Court also rejects this argument. If the adjacent lot, which is the same size as the cabin lot was

worth \$5,000.00 when initially sold and is now worth \$50,000.00, then by negative extrapolation, the cabin and its lot which is now worth \$119,000.00 would have been valued at approximately \$12,000.00 at the time of the parties marriage. And the Court so concludes. Therefore, the marital property value of the cabin and its lot is \$119,000.00 less \$12,000.00 of [sic] \$107,000.00.

B. Residence: The residence is located in Layton, Utah was purchased during the marriage and has a current value of \$141,000.00. There is no mortgage outstanding. The home is marital property although respondent argues that he should receive a \$30,661.00 credit against the home representing moneys he paid to the mortgagee when the mortgage was paid off. He claims the source of those funds came from a lump sum payment for permanent partial impairment resulting from the industrial accident heretofore referred to. Those funds are non-marital property to which respondent is entitled leaving a balance of \$110,339.00 as marital property. R. 135-138.

The Court included the division of property in its conclusions of law wherein the Court awarded to Merlin the Bear Lake Cabin and the marital residence to Louise. R. 141-142. Any adjustment for the personal injury non-marital portion of Merlin's interest in the marital residence was somehow accounted for in the Court's alimony award. R. 142.

The trial court committed an abuse of discretion by finding that the Bear Lake Cabin was mostly marital property. As noted in the Finding of Fact above, the trial court found that the property was owned by Merlin prior to the parties marriage, that title was held only in his name throughout the marriage and then ignored the only competent expert testimony presented at the trial that the value of the improvements done to the cabin was \$29,000.00, only \$5,000.00 of which had been paid for by Merlin, the balance having been paid for by his two sons. R. 135-136. Despite, the court specifically finding

that all premarital property should be awarded to the party who brought it into the marriage the Court ignored the evidence and invented an approach it referred to as “negative extrapolation” to arrive at a premarital value. This novel approach is inconsistent with the evidence and is an abuse of the trial court’s discretion.

In Mortensen, the Court laid out exceptions to the general rule that separate property, together with the appreciation thereof, should be awarded to the party who brought the property into the marriage. Specifically, the Court in Mortensen, stated that separate property may be considered marital property if "the other spouse has contributed to the augmentation, improvement, or operation of the property or has significantly cared for, protected or preserved it." Id. at 306. Merlin believes that Louise’s conduct does not rise to the level of the exceptions set forth in Mortensen as a matter of law and therefore the court abused its discretion.

Louise testified that she kept a few items of her personal property at the cabin at Bear Lake and that some of her premarital property was used to furnish the cabin. Trial Transcript, Vol. 1, 26 L. 5-8. Louise testified that Merlin owned the Bear Lake property prior to the parties marriage. TT. Vol. I, p. 43, L. 5-8. Louise testified that at the beginning of the marriage the cabin property was two separate lots upon one of which was the A-Frame Cabin. TT. Vol. I, p. 43, L.12-13. Louise testified that an addition was made to the cabin after the parties marriage. TT. Vol. I, p. 43, L. 18-19. Louise testified that she did not know how the addition was paid for. TT. Vol. I, p. 47, L. 7-9. Louise

thereafter contradicted herself by stating that while she did not know where the money came from she was sure it was marital. TT. Vol. I, p. 47, Line 10-12. Counsel for Merlin objected to Louise counsel's attempt to rehabilitate her testimony by asking leading questions on this point and also that she was attempting to impeach her prior testimony that Louise did not know where the money came from which objection was sustained. TT. Vol. I, p. 47, L. 13-17. Louise testified that the utility bills and taxes for the cabin were paid out of household money. TT. Vol. I, p. 47, L. 18-24. Louise testified that Merlin paid for some improvements to the cabin. TT. Vol. I, p. 49, L. 19-21. The cabin was titled throughout the marriage in the name of Merlin and LaVonne Symes, with LaVonne being Merlin's first wife. TT. Vol. I, p. 53, L. 3-5. Louise testified that during the marriage when the parties went to the cabin she cooked the meals, washed the dishes, cleaned, weeded, planted flowers. TT. Vol. I, p. 56, Line 5-11.

On cross examination, Louise testified that she had not been to the cabin since 1996. TT. Vol. I, p. 163, L. 1-2. Louise testified that title to the cabin and lot had never been in her name. TT. Vol. I, p. 198, L. 20-23. Louise did not know where the money came from to repurchase the lot at Bear Lake which had been earlier sold. TT. Vol. I, p. 205, L. 9-11.

In contrast to Louise testimony about her alleged contributions to the Cabin and Lot, Merlin testified that the cost of the addition to the cabin was borne largely by his adult sons. TT. Vol. II, p. 362, L. 20-21. Merlin testified that Louise never showed any

interest in the Bear Lake property. TT. Vol. II, p. 363, L. 19-21. Merlin testified that most of the improvements to the cabin were done by the boys using salvage materials and that he contributed not more than \$5,000.00 including the carpeting. TT. Vol. II, page 408, L.5-19. The real estate appraiser testified that the present market value of all of the improvements provided by Merlin and his two sons was \$29,000.00. TT. Vol. I, page 124, L.9-11.

Merlin believes that the trial court abused its discretion by determining that any portion of the Bear Lake Property was marital. It is a standard rule of construction that words are to be given their plain meaning. In the present case, Louise's own testimony is that she did nothing to augment the value of the property other than to lend some of her premarital property to furnishing the cabin (which she received back in the distribution of personal property) and the performance of routine chores while visiting the property. Louise did not make any improvements to the property nor did she contribute to the operation of the property. Louise did not significantly care for the property. She did not protect the property nor did she preserve the property. Rather, when Louise and the family used the property, she cooked and cleaned for them and did some chores which were related to the care of the people but not involved in the improvement of the property. This is not legally sufficient to meet the standard set forth in Mortensen. As such, the Court erred in determining that any portion of the Bear Lake Cabin and Lot were marital property. The Bear Lake Cabin and Lot should be awarded to Merlin, free

and clear of any interest in Louise.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY FAILING TO APPORTION TO MERLIN THE PREMARITAL VALUE OF THE CABIN AND THE APPRECIATION THEREOF.

The trial court abused its discretion by failing to apportion to Merlin his premarital interest in the cabin and awarding it to Merlin as separate property. The appellant court will not disturb the trial court decision concerning property divisions unless it is clearly unjust or a clear abuse of discretion. Walters v. Walters, 812 P.2d 64, 66 (Utah App. 1991) *cert. denied* 836 P.2d 1383 (Utah 1993). Because the decision is an abuse of discretion, this Court should reverse the lower court's decision.

Willard Peterson, a real estate appraiser specializing in appraisals of property surrounding Bear Lake testified as to the value of the property including the cabin. Mr. Peterson testified that he performed an appraisal and the value of the property and cabin and that the value of the property was \$119,000.00. TT. Vol. I, p. 120, Line 1. Mr. Peterson stated that the addition to the cabin constructed by Merlin and his sons added very little additional value to the cabin because it was not professionally done. TT. Vol. I, p. 120, L. 14-17. Mr. Peterson stated that the value of the addition was \$29,000.00. TT. Vol. I, p. 124, L. 9-11. Mr. Peterson testified that the A-Frame Cabin had a present value of \$40,000.00. TT. Vol. I, p. 124, L. 6-8. Mr. Peterson testified that the Lot had a present value of \$50,000.00. TT. Vol. I, , p. 125, L. 19-21. Mr. Peterson testified that he was paid \$275.00 to perform the appraisal. TT Vol. I, p. 122, L. 15. Merlin properly

maintains that the A-Frame Cabin, and the Lot are his separate property, were never marital in nature or commingled assets and that he should have been awarded them free and clear of any interest in Louise. Merlin contributed \$5,000.00 towards the improvements done to the cabin during the marriage the total of which were valued altogether at \$29,000.00. The adult sons contributed most of the labor and materials to build the addition and regarded this as their ownership interest. The Court ignored the contributions of the two sons and found that their contributions were somehow a *quid pro quo* for their interest in the second adjoining lot even though there was no evidence to that effect presented at trial and the children testified that they purchased the lot without any assistance from Merlin.

It is the rule of law in this state that premarital property, together with the appreciation thereof, should normally be awarded to the party who brought that property into the marriage. See Mortensen; See Also Burke v. Burke, 733 P. 2d 133, 135 (Utah 1987); Naranjo v. Naranjo, 751 P.2d 1144, 1147 (Utah App. 1988); Watson v. Watson, 837 P.2d 1, 5 (Utah App. 1992); Walters v. Walters, 812 P.2d 64, 67 (Utah App. 1991); and Dunn v. Dunn, 802 P.2d 1314, 1320 (Utah App. 1990). As stated above, Merlin does not believe that the exceptions to this Rule apply as previously argued.

The Court did in fact provide Merlin with some credit for the premarital value of the property. However, this value did not include any appreciation on that premarital interest. Specifically, the Court awarded to Merlin a premarital interest in the property in

the amount of \$12,000.00. The balance of the value was considered marital property. This is a clear abuse of discretion. See cases cited in previous paragraph. There was specific testimony from Willard Peterson who stated the aggregate value of the property was \$119,000.00. Further, Mr. Peterson stated that the value of the improvement to the Cabin was \$29,000.00. Therefore, all of the balance of the value of the Bear Lake Cabin and Lot was premarital value and appreciation thereon, in the amount of \$90,000.00. It was an abuse of discretion for the trial court to award a value greater than Merlin's share of the contributions to the \$29,000.00 addition as marital property.

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