1999

Louise A. Symes v. Merlin David Symes : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court has broad discretion in reaching an equitable distribution of the parties marital assets and can take into consideration the premarital estates of either party as it relates to the overall division and to the extent that the court finds that there has been efforts on the part of the other party toward the enhancement, maintenance and protection of the property. The court was not required to apportion the premarital value as advocated by the respondent particularly where the court can determine that the other spouse has enhanced the value of the property during the course of the marriage and where the evidence was clear that the original “A” frame cabin had be remodeled and additions added repeatedly during the course of the marriage. The court is further not required to believe the testimony of the respondent’s children over the testimony of the petitioner regarding her understanding of the source of funds for the additions, utilities, insurance and maintenance.

The court does have a right to assess costs but the Court of Appeals has specifically stated that neither the cost of land surveys nor appraisals incurred in preparation for litigation are recoverable costs.

The trial court, after a second, unscheduled day of trial, can in its discretion deny the motion of the respondent to hear additional evidence particularly where the complaint of the respondent regarding the claimed information was not raised at trial. In actuality the respondent had sufficient notice of all issues particularly as they were raised in the discovery

which answers were not provided to the petitioner until half way through the first day of trial. The issues regarding the funds were related to a bank account in the respondent's name only where the parties did not have a joint marital account and therefore the information was not in the control of the petitioner. If anyone has a complaint about the inability to prepare for trial testimony, it is the petitioner who had to prepare her case without the benefit of the respondent's overdue answers to discovery.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WITHIN ITS DISCRETION IN FINDING THAT THE APPRECIATION ON PREMARITAL PROPERTY OF THE RESPONDENT WAS A MARITAL ASSET UNDER THE FACTS IN THIS CASE.

The trial court was well within its discretion in finding the appreciation on the Bear Lake cabin to be a marital asset. The seminal case on this issue is Burke v. Burke, 733 P.2d 133 (Utah 1987). The Court set forth the general rule that, “[p]remarital property, gifts, and inheritances may be viewed as separate property, and in appropriate circumstances, equity will require that each party retain the separate property brought to the marriage. However, the rule is not invariable.” Id. at 135. The Court set forth thirteen (13) factors that the trial court should consider in “fashioning an equitable property division.” Id. These factors are:

[T]he amount and kind of property to be divided; whether the property was acquired before or during the marriage; the source of the property; the health of the parties; the parties' standard of living, respective financial conditions, needs, and earning capacity; the duration of the marriage; the children of the marriage; the parties' ages at time of marriage and of divorce;

what the parties gave up by the marriage; and the necessary relationship the property division has with the amount of alimony and child support to be awarded. Id.

The Court further stated that of specific concern is “whether one spouse has made any contribution toward the growth of the separate assets of the other spouse and whether the assets were accumulated or enhanced by the joint efforts of the parties.” Id. In Burke, the increase in land value came solely from inflation, whereas in the present case, the increase in land value came from substantial improvements to the land, specifically numerous additions to the original “A” frame cabin, which occurred repeatedly during this 20-year marriage.

The Burke court gave further guidance to trial courts in determining an equitable division of property:

In the exercise of their discretion, trial courts need to be guided by the general purpose to be achieved by a property division, which is to allocate the property in a manner which best serves the needs of the parties and best permits them to pursue their separate lives. Id.

The Utah Supreme Court concluded in Burke that Utah Code Annotated §30-3-5 confers “broad discretion upon trial courts in the division of property, regardless of its source or time of acquisition.” Id. at 134-35; Walters v. Walters, 812 P.2d 64 (Utah App. 1991) *cert. denied*, 836 P.2d 1383 (Utah 1992). Further, “in appropriate circumstances, one spouse may be awarded property which the other spouse brought in to the marriage.” Watson v. Watson, 837 P.2d 1 (Utah App. 1992); Workman v. Workman, 652 P.2d 931, 933 (Utah 1982) (holding that “achieving a fair, just, and equitable result may require that

the trial court exercise its discretion to award one spouse the premarital property of the other.”). Judge Hansen was cognizant of the fact that the cabin was acquired before the marriage and awarded Merlin his premarital interest. The court however, exercised its discretion in finding that the appreciation on the cabin was marital property.

In Mortensen, the Court consolidated the thirteen (13) factors discussed in Burke. The Court concluded that trial court should award premarital property to the party who brought the property into the marriage, unless:

(1) the other spouse has by his or her efforts or expense contributed to the enhancement, maintenance, or protection of that property, thereby acquiring an equitable interest in it, . . . or (2) the property has been consumed or its identity lost through commingling or exchanges or where the acquiring spouse has made a gift of an interest therein to the other spouse. Id. at 308.

The Petitioner has, by her efforts and expenses, contributed substantially to the enhancement, maintenance, and protection of the Bear Lake property, as identified in the trial court’s findings. When the parties were first married in 1970 and Merlin brought the cabin to the marriage, Louise testified to the nature of the land and the cabin as it was at that time: a small “A” frame cabin which consisted of two bedrooms and two loft bedrooms. TT. Vol. I, p. 43, Line 9-13. Louise then testified that in about 1980, the cabin has a total of seven (7) bedrooms with a garage being added. TT. Vol. I, p. 46, L. 21-23. Similarly, during the course of the marriage, a sewer line was put in which the residents paid for, TT. Vol. I, p. 48, Line 9-12, a gate and posts were added to the property, as well as turrets. As of 1996, the cabin has “been made to look like a castle type

of building now with the “A” frame being the old part that was in the center section.” TT. Vol. I, p. 48, Line 20-25. At some point during the course of the marriage, a new roof was also placed on the cabin. TT. Vol. I, p. 49, L. 10-12. Petitioner’s exhibits 2, 3, 4, 7, and 13 are photographs of the cabin taken throughout the parties’ marriage. These photographs demonstrate the incredible additions and improvements that occurred to this cabin during the parties’ 28-year marriage.

Louise testified that any and all monthly bills, utilities, and taxes on the cabin were paid for with marital funds. TT. Vol. I, p. 47, L. 18-25, p. 48, L. 1-3. Louise helped pay for the respective bills with her income from Social Security. TT. Vol. II, p. 325. Merlin also testified that the insurance on the cabin had both Merlin’s and Louise’s names on it. Therefore, if any damage was to occur to the cabin, any insurance payments would have been made jointly to Merlin and Louise. Contrary to appellant’s argument, Louise never contradicted herself. When Louise was asked, “[d]o you know for sure that marital funds were used for the Bear Lake property,” after a leading question was sustained, Louise testified that “household money” was used to pay the bills for the cabin. TT. Vol. I, p. 47, L. 10-25.

During the twenty-eight years that Louise and Merlin were married, when they and their respective families would go to this cabin, Louise testified to the following:

There was always lots of work to be done. I always cooked all the meals, washed all the dishes, cleaned the cabin, tried to make it an enjoyable weekend for everyone. I weeded in the yard. I eventually planted flowers, scrubs, and things in the yard to make it more beautiful. And then I took all

the laundry home. The bedding and everything, the towels and all and washed during the week while I was working. TT. Vol. I, p. 56, L. 4-11.

Judge Hansen found the above financial and labor contributions and efforts toward improvements by Louise to be sufficient to categorize the appreciation on the cabin as marital property.

The Court in Gardner v. Gardner, 748 P.2d 1076 (Utah 1988) stated another general rule: “Marital property encompasses all of the assets of every nature possessed by the parties, whenever obtained and from whatever source derived.” Id. at 1078. The Court in Woodward v. Woodward, 656 P.2d 431, 432-33 (Utah 1982) also emphasized that:

Whether a resource is subject to distribution does not turn on whether the spouse can presently use or control it, or on whether the resource can be given a present dollar value. The essential criterion is whether a right to the benefit or asset has accrued in whole or in part during the marriage.

Clearly, without specifically stating as such, the trial court found that Louise accrued a right to the cabin (the appreciation which accrued during the marriage) because of her substantial contributions to the asset for 28 years.

The cases have consistently followed the rule of law set forth in Mortensen. In Burt v. Burt, 799 P.2d 1166, 1169 (Utah App. 1990) the Court held that premarital property of a party is not beyond the court’s reach in an equitable property division. See Also Naranjo v. Naranjo, 751 P.2d 1144 (Utah App. 1988); Dubois v. Dubois, 504 P.2d 1380 (Utah 1973); Bailey v. Bailey, 745 P.2d 830 (Utah App. 1987); Argyle v. Argyle, 688

P.2d 468 (Utah 1984); Newmeyer v. Newmeyer, 745 P.2d 1276 (Utah 1987).

Appellant argues that the efforts Louise made to contribute to the cabin didn't rise to a level to classify the appreciation on the cabin as marital property. This determination however, is solely within the trial court's discretion. Dunn v. Dunn, 802 P.2d 1316 (Utah App. 1990) sets forth very specifically the efforts that can be considered by the trial court in determining a distribution of marital property. The Dunn Court refused to weigh financial contributions each partner made to the marriage in dividing marital property. It held that "[s]uch an analysis ignores contributions of love, encouragement, and companionship, which elude monetary valuation." Id. at 1322.

Louise testified that, at the time of the parties' marriage, her five (5) minor children and Merlin's four (4) children lived with the parties at their marital residence. TT. Vol. I, p. 18, L. 3-17. Louise testified that she was the primary caretaker of these nine (9) children TT. Vol. I, p. 18, L. 20-21, and "was employed with Merlin in most, in nearly all the jobs that he ever had during the marriage." TT. Vol. I, p. 19, L. 14-15.

Louise further testified that she was employed *with* the same employers as Merlin because he told her that "he needed [her] help in the jobs and so [she] went to support [her] husband." TT. Vol. I, p. 19, L. 19-24. Louise has a teaching degree, but gave it up in order to support her husband, and to "make the marriage work." TT. Vol. I, p. 19, L. 23-25, p. 20, L. 1-6. She sacrificed income, retirement, and most importantly: the opportunity pursue her dream of teaching. Louise has no retirement available to her

because she gave that up when she went to work at nearly every job Merlin held for twenty-eight (28) years. TT. Vol. I, p. 22, L. 17-21.

Louise was an equal partner in this marriage of twenty-eight (28) years. Her many contributions, although not of extreme monetary value, cannot be overlooked. Louise testified that Merlin has been fired consistently throughout the parties nearly twenty-eight (28) year marriage “from most of his jobs, from coast to coast.” TT. Vol. II, p. 293, L. 6-8. Louise was asked why she didn’t apply for jobs to supplement the parties’ incomes. TT. Vol. II, p. 292, L. 9-10. Her response was: “[b]ecause I needed to be with my husband to help him keep a job and support him in keeping employment. He always asked me to come in and help him.” TT. Vol. II, p. 292, L. 11-13.

A similar case to the one at hand arose in Rappleye v. Rappleye, 855 P.2d 260 (Utah App. 1993), the Court vacated an award of a hardware store to the party who brought the store into the marriage. The Court of Appeals found that the trial court never “considered [appellant’s] contributions in determining what financial benefits, if any, accrued to the hardware store by virtue of her contributions, financial or otherwise, during the period of the marriage.” Id. at 263. The trial court made specific and adequate findings as to the many contributions Louise made both to the marriage, and to the Bear Lake cabin. It was therefore not an abuse of discretion for the trial court to find that the appreciation on the cabin was a marital asset.

II. THE TRIAL COURT USED ITS EQUITABLE POWERS IN DETERMINING THE APPROPRIATE PREMARITAL VALUE OF THE BEAR LAKE CABIN AND THE APPORTIONMENT OF THE APPRECIATION THEREON.

Under §30-3-5, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended), the Utah Supreme Court as well as the Utah Court of Appeals has consistently held that “there is no fixed rule or formula for the division of property, the trial court has wide discretion in property division, and its judgment will not be disturbed on appeal unless an abuse of discretion can be demonstrated.” Mortensen v. Mortensen, 760 P.2d 304, 305-06 (Utah 1988); Bushell v. Bushell, 649 P.2d 85 (Utah 1982). Similarly, the Utah Appellate Courts “do not lightly disturb a trial court’s division of property in a divorce decree and will uphold a division made in accordance with the standards we have set and in the exercise of the trial court’s discretion ‘except where to do so would work a manifest injustice or inequity.’” Noble v. Noble, 761 P.2d 1369 (Utah 1988) (quoting Pusey v. Pusey, 728 P.2d 117, 119 (Utah 1986). See Also Newmeyer v. Newmeyer, 745 P.2d 1276, 1278 (Utah 1987). No manifest injustice or inequity will result if the trial court’s division of property is upheld. As the trial court’s Memorandum Decision indicates, great lengths were taken by the trial court to insure that the division of property was equal. See generally Memorandum Decision R. 101-108

The overriding consideration for the trial court in fashioning an equitable distribution of property is “that the ultimate division be equitable--that property be fairly divided between the parties, given their contributions during the marriage and their

circumstances at the time of the divorce.” Newmeyer v. Newmeyer, at 1278. Louise contributed 28 years of her life to the maintenance and enhancement of the family. As part of her contribution, Louise maintained the marital residence as well as the parties’ cabin to make it comfortable for everyone. Like many families, Merlin contributed his time and energy to building the additions to the cabin and Louise contributed her time and energy to the enhancement of the cabin, which included cooking, cleaning, laundry, yard work, and support and encouragement to Merlin.

Appellant argues that the trial court failed to apportion to Merlin his premarital interest in the Bear Lake cabin. However, as the court’s Memorandum Decision indicates, Merlin *was* awarded his premarital interest in the cabin of \$12,000. The trial court heard arguments from both parties on what they believed the value of the cabin was at the time of the marriage. However, the trial court rejected appellee’s argument that the original value of the cabin should be based on the valuation of the cabin for property tax purposes. The trial court also rejected appellant’s argument that the value at the time of the parties’ marriage is irrelevant. The trial court determined the current value of the cabin based on the following:

If the adjacent lot, which is the same size as the cabin lot was worth \$5,000 when initially sold [in 1974] and is now worth \$50,000, then by negative extrapolation, the cabin and its lot which is now worth \$119,000 would have been valued at approximately \$12,000 at the time of the parties’ marriage.
R. 104.

The trial court exercised its discretion in determining the value of the cabin before the

marriage. The trial court actually determined the value of the Bear Lake cabin and its lot based solely upon the testimony of appellant's appraiser. Appellee is at a loss to see how appellant can argue the trial court stated the cabin was entirely marital property. Clearly, Judge Hansen's Memorandum Decision awarded Merlin the value of the cabin (as determined by the court) at the time of the marriage. The court then determined the appreciation which accrued during the marriage to be marital property.

III. THE COURT DID NOT ERR BY REFUSING TO DIVIDE THE COST OF APPRAISALS OBTAINED BY THE RESPONDENT.

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